

A FIVE-POINT AGENDA FOR HOW DEVELOPMENT COOPERATION

CAN SUPPORT THE EU'S STRATEGIC AUTONOMY

ABSTRACT

The European Union and its member states have consistently been the single largest contributor of official development assistance (ODA). One effect of this is that the main way the EU interacts with a large section of the developing world is through development cooperation. However, there appears to be a reluctance among European policymakers to acknowledge the fact that the EU and its member states could implement a development cooperation policy that connects with foreign policy objectives. This policy brief argues that development cooperation has never really been divorced from national – or in the case of the European Union, regional - interests. Acknowledging this fact, and communicating the linkage both to itself and its development partners, is a critical first step in the EU identifying how development cooperation can support its strategic autonomy ambitions. This might also start a process that leads to some policy coherence within the EU and among the EU institutions. The policy brief provides some insight into how such policy coherence might enable development cooperation to support the EU's strategic autonomy across five priority policy areas: people and skills, climate policy, critical raw materials and supply chains, energy policy, and digital policy.

AUTHOR

DR OLUMIDE ABIMBOLA

Executive Director and Founder Africa Policy Research Institute (APRI)









THE FOUNDATION FOR EUROPEAN PROGRESSIVE STUDIES (FEPS)

European Political Foundation - N° 4 BE 896.230.213 Avenue des Arts 46 1000 Brussels (Belgium) www.feps-europe.eu @FEPS_Europe

IN PARTNERSHIP WITH



FRIEDRICH-EBERT-STIFTUNG EU-OFFICE BRUSSELS

Rue du Taciturne 38, BE-1000 Brussels (Belgium) https://brussels.fes.de @fes_brussels



FONDATION JEAN JAURÈS

12 Cité Malesherbes, 75009 Paris (France) www.jean-jaures.org @j_jaures



This Policy Brief was produced with the financial support of the European Parliament. It does not represent the view of the European Parliament.

Copy Editing: Nicky Robinson Cover Photo: Shutterstock.com

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Introduction | . 4 |
|--|------|
| Connecting the dots between development cooperation and strategic autonomy | .5 |
| People and skills | .5 |
| EU's climate policy | .7 |
| Critical raw materials and supply chains | .8 |
| EU energy policy | .9 |
| EU's digital policy and sovereignty | . 11 |
| Conclusion | . 13 |
| Endnotes and References | .14 |
| About the author | . 17 |
| On similar topics | .19 |

Introduction

The debate about the European Union's strategic autonomy has been revitalised with a new sense of urgency since Russia invaded Ukraine. The EU's economic reliance on states that have been termed either systemic rivals¹ or systemic competitors² has now become an urgent concern. To be sure, this is a concern that was present before, but it has become even more current in European capitals and in Brussels since the war started in Ukraine. A recent speech³ by High Representative of the Union for Foreign Affairs and Security Policy/ Vice-President of the European Commission (HR/VP) Josep Borrell expressed the concern clearly. Citing Europe's reliance on cheap energy from Russia, the continent's reliance on access to China both as source of cheap goods and as an investment destination, as well as the outsourcing of Europe's security to the United States, he argued that the EU needs to change the structure of its economy, while also taking a bigger and more autonomous role in its own security. In order to contribute to this growing debate on the EU's strategic autonomy in the context of the European Union's broader foreign policy, this policy brief seeks to examine the role that development cooperation can play in supporting such ambitions.

This is arguably a very timely and pressing question to be pondered. At the same time as Europe appears to be waking up to the realities of the situation at home, it is also struggling to adjust to the reality of the dynamics in certain parts of the world that it often took for granted as being within its sphere of influence. Notably, it has realised that a significant number of African countries are in fact probably not as securely aligned with the EU as it had assumed. The reaction in Europe to the voting pattern of African states on UN General Assembly Resolution ES-11/1 condemning Russia's

invasion of Ukraine is just one prominent instance of this readjustment to realities.⁴ The war itself, and the EU's efforts towards it, have led many think tankers and commentators to wonder whether this is indeed the moment of the EU's geopolitical awakening.⁵⁶⁷

Geopolitical concerns had nevertheless been gnawing at the EU's foreign policy establishment well before the war. In a 2020 address by the HR/VP to fellow European commissioners, for example, the need for the EU to become a "truly global player in a world marked by the strategic rivalry between the US and China" was clearly stated.8 The Commission's announcement of the Global Gateway, a scheme designed to mobilise up to €300 billion in investment in partner countries between 2021 and 2027 (employing both public sector and private sector financing instruments) is another indication of the EU's geopolitical awakening. What is more, the Commission announced that 50% of this amount would be dedicated to Africa (but without providing any details about where the money would come from, what would count towards it, what was already in hand or how much the Commission and member countries were still to provide).

Despite the pessimism surrounding the ongoing 'soul-searching' that the EU is conducting in its external relations and foreign policy, the European bloc remains an important player globally. With regard to development cooperation, the EU and its member states, counted as one entity, has consistently been the single largest contributor of official development assistance (ODA). Yet while the provision of ODA has admittedly been trending downwards globally – just as the meaning of ODA for receiving countries is also under question, given that for the past decade or so, remittances to low- or middle-income countries (LMIC) have outstripped ODA as well as foreign direct investment (FDI) – for the

EU and its member states, ODA nevertheless remains a key tool of diplomacy and of engaging with the developing world. It also contributes to the EU's sense of identity as a geopolitical actor.

This policy brief seeks to contribute to the growing debate on the EU's strategic autonomy by examining the role development cooperation could play in supporting this ambition. The brief also seeks to advance the discussion on the purpose of the EU's development cooperation itself. At times incomprehensibly, there appears to be a conviction among EU policymakers that the main issue with the EU's development cooperation is Europe's inability to communicate its development cooperation efforts effectively. Even if this is true, it stems from a second, and perhaps much more serious, failure of communication: the EU's inability, or perhaps unwillingness, to communicate both to itself and to its development partners what development cooperation means to the EU, and how the bloc's development cooperation policy is a crucial component of advancing the EU's self-interest. Focusing on strategic autonomy might help see and present things more clearly.

In the following, this policy brief will argue that development cooperation can indeed support the EU's strategic autonomy – but only if the EU is able to be clear to itself regarding its strategic objectives, and how the parts of the world with which it engages primarily through development cooperation can support the EU to achieve those objectives. This brief examines what this could look like in five priority policy areas for the European Union: people and skills, climate policy, critical raw materials and supply chain, energy policy, and the digital agenda.

Although the EU's development policies are implemented around the world, this brief reflects and draws mainly from cooperation with African countries. This is because the two continents'

geographic proximity will strongly benefit the five-point agenda that is discussed below for how development cooperation can support the EU's strategic autonomy.

Connecting the dots between development cooperation and strategic autonomy

To connect the dots between the EU's foreign policy and development cooperation, the fact first needs to be acknowledged that specific foreign policy objectives are indeed already being pursued through development cooperation. For areas where this is not yet obvious, the EU should strive to make the connections more explicit. In this spirit, this section looks specifically at how development cooperation can support five foreign policy priorities of the EU that relate to strategic autonomy.

People and skills

People and skills are the core of a country region's economic independence a prerequisite for larger goals of strategic autonomy. The EU faces important - and urgent - demographic challenges in this regard. According to the European Commission,9 the total population of the European Union is projected to grow slightly from 446.8 million in 2022, to reach a peak of 449.3 million in 2026-2029. By 2050, it is projected to have fallen back to 441.9 million. Europe is being hit both by an ageing population, due to a significant increase in life expectancy, and low birth rates. Given these factors, the Commission forecasts that the number of people aged 85 and above will increase from 12.5 million in 2019 to 26.8 million by 2050, while the number of centenarians is estimated to increase from 96,600 in 2019 to nearly half a million (484,000) by 2050.

As this trend progresses, the number of people of working age will trend downwards. By 2050, there will therefore be 95 million fewer people of working age living in the EU than in 2015. This working population will be expected to support the dramatically ageing population. *The Economist*¹⁰ projects that Europe, which it describes as the "world's oldest region", will have 40 million fewer inhabitants in 2050 than currently.

Worries around demography are not necessarily about the number of people in a region, or even just about the demographic ratio (the ratio of the number of dependents in a population to the working age population). Instead, the worries mainly concern the future economic impact for Europe if the continent is unable to secure the right mix of labour skills required to power its economy. The pressures in this regard are already mounting for Europe. According to the 2021 Report on Labour Shortages and Surpluses issued by the European Labour Authority, "a total of 28 occupations, employing 14% in the EU workforce in 2020 (27 million), were classified as shortages - and 19 occupations were classified as shortages of high magnitude".11 The shortages are such that internal migration within the EU cannot help, as the shortages were "often ubiquitous; consequently, the potential for matching shortages with surpluses across frontiers was limited."

In Germany, Europe's largest economy, the ifo Business Survey¹² found that the shortage of skilled workers has reached an all-time high and affected close to 50% of companies surveyed in July 2022. According to a labour economist at ifo, "in the medium and long term, this problem is likely to become more severe." Although this is the case across the continent, Germany is particularly hard hit. In addition, the shortages appear to affect a variety of different economic

sectors, from services to manufacturing to data processing.

In France, the Centre for Global Development¹⁴ (CGD) estimates that there will be a labour shortage of 3.9 million by 2050. The sectors already facing shortages are likely to continue that trend. The shortages are being experienced in the information and communications technology (ICT) sector, and among engineers and healthcare professionals, as well as among financial and legal professions. This also reflects the trend across the EU, with ICT skills being particularly short.¹⁵

It is hard to imagine these challenges being solved without immigration. This is therefore where policy coherence can support the EU in achieving its strategic autonomy objectives in the area of people and skills. However, when it comes to migration, much of the European Union's effort is currently expended towards stopping people from entering the EU's borders. Indeed, the EU has even created a fund, the EU Emergency Trust Fund for Africa, whose main goal is to fight the root cause of migration. According to estimates from Deutsche Welle,16 about a guarter of the fund's €5.2 billion has been spent on migration management. In addition, the EU has partly been using its development budget to control migration, spending a larger proportion in North Africa, "often in countries considered the origin or transit states for migrants who make their way to the European Union."17

It is somewhat ironic that the region with the biggest need for people is spending so much on keeping people out, often willing to work in ways that are against its stated objectives.

For example, in Africa, one of the goals that the EU says it wants to support with its development policy is regional integration. Yet

it has been shown¹⁸ that the EU's migration funding on the continent often results in the disruption of advances that have been made by African Regional Economic Communities in the area of freedom of movement. In West Africa, specifically, the securitisation of borders, which has been at the core of the EU's engagement around migration in the region since 2015, is leading to an automatic suspicion that anyone moving across borders towards the North is trying to reach Europe.

In other words, the EU's current development cooperation approach is doing the exact opposite of what would be required to build its strategic autonomy in the people and skills area. However, there are already a number of ideas for how migration could work between the two continents. The pressure on the African side is clear: a large and growing youth population is putting enormous pressure on countries and governments. The EU's approach, until now, has nevertheless been largely framed as supporting Africans who have a problem creating jobs for these young populations. Indeed, this is how the EU narrative around 'legal pathways' for Africans to reach Europe has been framed. Yet this framing on the EU side needs to change – to one that considers how migration can support the EU with its own people and skills shortage. This shift has the potential to lead to more policy coherence, with development cooperation working in tandem with other policy objectives rather than against them.

EU's climate policy

The EU is the first major global power with a clear and detailed plan for a net zero future by 2050. The European Green Deal, which was originally introduced by the European Commission in December 2019, has since been converted to the 'Fit for 55' package – a set of policies and

initiatives that are targeted at reducing net EU greenhouse gas emissions by 55% by 2030.

When the European Green Deal was introduced, it was hailed as Europe's "Man on the Moon" moment,19 designed to make the first climate neutral continent by 2050. It also included a range of initiatives that, although focused on the EU itself, have potential foreign policy and geopolitical dimensions. Indeed, scholars and commentators have already elaborated specifically on these dimensions.20 21 Climate policy is therefore an area where the EU has a credible claim to be leading in the debate, where it is already seeking strategic autonomy, and where the role of development cooperation for supporting this endeavour can be sketched out.

The EU should seek to stay ahead in leading the discourse on net zero greenhouse gas emissions as well as in building trust by supporting the climate agendas of countries which might not have access to the same level of resources as Europe. Here, what is more important is policy coherence between the EU's climate policy and its development cooperation policy, not necessarily the development cooperation itself. Indeed, the countries with which the EU needs to build trust are already countries that are amongst its development partners. To achieve this trust, development cooperation and climate policy need to work hand in hand – starting with the issue of climate finance.

European countries are part of the group that, in 2009, committed to providing USD 100 billion per year by 2020 to developing countries that are facing the harshest of the climate change realities. The sum falls hopelessly short of the amount needed – in Africa alone, at least USD 250 billion is needed annually in conditional and unconditional financing between 2020 and 2030.²² Even so, the USD 100 billion target per year by 2020 has not been met in 2023. The first

step towards maintaining credibility is lending the voice and power of the European Union to supporting developing countries in this regard. This should also extend to providing the kind of financing developing countries need, such as adaptation financing, as well as supporting the full implementation of the Loss and Damage Fund that was announced at COP27 in Sharm El Sheikh. Another key agreement at COP27, which is in need of Europe's climate diplomacy support, is the issue of reforming the multilateral development banks (MDBs) and the international financial institutions (IFIs) so that their spending is aligned with climate goals, especially climate adaptation measures. The fact that developing countries cannot access development financing is largely due to the inherently undemocratic structure of the global economy and the international debt financing architecture. The European Union can support these initiatives, with a view to backing projects that are truly championed by the least developed countries.

The EU also needs to ensure its zero carbon objectives do not cause undue pain to developing countries. It is therefore essential for the EU at the very least not to allow its net zero goals to take with one hand what it is giving through development cooperation with the other. There are a few initiatives under the European Green Deal about which developing countries have raised concerns. Chief among them is the Climate Border Adjustment Mechanism, which Europe hopes will help it avoid carbon leakage into its market and protect local industries. According to UNCTAD, 23 this is going to adversely affect developing countries whose exports will be reduced because of the tax. It is important for the EU to ensure that the European Green Deal does not create negative effects for developing economies. Complying with the common but differentiated responsibilities principle of the Paris Agreement, rather than implementing

policies that unlawfully punish developing economies, will support the EU in building trust that will allow it to score geopolitically.

Critical raw materials and supply chains

The European Union relies on imports to meet a significant portion of its demand for critical raw materials. These materials are essential for various industrial sectors and have a high economic value, but they are also scarce or have a high environmental impact.

The EU's 2020 list²⁴ of critical raw materials contains 30 materials, three more than the 2017 list. The current list includes both rare as well as materials that are more common but that are needed in great quantities across different sectors. The former includes rare earth metals, lithium, magnesium and cobalt, and the latter copper and aluminium.

In her 2022 State of the Union address, European Commission President Ursula von der Leyen noted, "we must avoid becoming dependent again, as we did with oil and gas" – a clear reference to the EU's reliance on Russian energy sources. Russia was not her only concern, however. The speech also mentioned the fact that the EU currently depends overwhelmingly on China for raw materials. Indeed, the supply of critical raw materials is highly concentrated. China produces 86% of the world's rare earth supply, and the EU imports 93% of its magnesium from China, 98% of its borate from Turkey, and 85% of its niobium from Brazil. Russia produces 40% of the world's palladium.

In order to address these issues, the Commission has announced a Critical Raw Materials Act which is supposed to map out the EU's ambitions for its industry and defence capabilities, as well as its climate ambitions. The Commission plans to present a proposal for the Act by March 2023.

In the already existing outline presented by von der Leyen, mention was made of the importance of a "more resilient supply chain". This is where development cooperation, again, might be able to support the goal of strategic autonomy because many of the minerals that the EU has categorised as critical are present in countries with which the EU engages as a development partner.

Looking at Africa alone, the EU currently sources 28% of its barite from Morocco, 64% of bauxite from Guinea, 68% of cobalt and 36% of tantalum from the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC), and about 90% of the platinum group metals (PGM) from South Africa. This is just the list of African countries already supplying Europe. Other countries such as Ghana. Namibia, Zambia, and Zimbabwe also have the potential to supply copper, PGM, rare earth metals and bauxite to Europe. However, these countries want to ensure that their raw materials support their own countries' industrialisation. They therefore do not just want to be suppliers of raw materials, but have a strategic interest in processing the materials themselves and thus capturing a much more significant revenue.

This is where development cooperation might be able to offer some support to supply chain ambitions. The EU has already signed at least one strategic partnership with an African country, Namibia.²⁵ Although the details are scant, the information available shows that development cooperation will play a key role in this strategic partnership, as it includes skills development around raw materials as well as renewable hydrogen value chains. It also includes cooperation around research and innovation, as well as cooperation in raw materials value chains and hydrogen technologies. These are backed by loans from EIB Global, a new branch of the European Investment Bank with the mandate to support EU objectives around the world.

In other words, there is a possible template for how the EU might use development cooperation to support its ambitions for some level of independence in sourcing critical raw materials. Yet it needs to offer the African countries hosting these critical materials what others are not offering enough of: value addition through processing, which also offers the possibility of job creation for young Africans. Furthermore, these strategic partnerships need to be open to scrutiny both in Europe and in the African countries, to ensure that they are indeed developmental in their goals and cater to the development objectives of the partner countries. This is especially vital if the EU wants to avoid being accused of forcing through underhand deals in the guise of development cooperation. In short, the gains on both sides need to be clear.

EU energy policy

The war in Ukraine has raised the EU's awareness of the fact that its transition to renewables is a vital part of its energy independence, particularly from Russia, but also from other actors that the EU considers strategic rivals or competitors. Some drastic steps have been taken in the wake of Russia's invasion of Ukraine, with a clear understanding that the share of renewable energy in the EU's energy mix has to be significantly increased in the medium to long term. For the EU, this is not only good geopolitically, but also for the achievement of its climate goals, which include the decarbonisation of the energy sector.

Following Russia's invasion of Ukraine, the Commission released the REPowerEU Plan,²⁶ with the objective of rapidly reducing the EU's dependency on Russia by increasing renewable energy usage. The goals of the plan include saving energy; diversifying supplies; accelerating Europe's clean energy transition; and smartly combining investments and reforms. It is an

inward-facing plan that seeks to change the way the EU consumes energy in the short to medium term. However, the plan cannot be achieved without strong outward-facing partnerships. This is where it needs to dovetail with the EU's energy diplomacy, a crucial component of its foreign policy.

The goal of the EU's energy diplomacy, as stated by the EEAS, is threefold: supporting the global energy transition, supporting energy security, and ensuring that the energy transition is geopolitically just and in alignment with the Paris Agreement.²⁷ Although information on EU energy diplomacy is openly accessible online, it does not appear to have any real financing or plan attached to it. The Commission might want to consider changing this, as good energy diplomacy implemented in concert with the EU's development cooperation would be essential for the EU's energy policy.

Unless the EU takes drastic measures including strong industrial policy, the local production of hardware for renewable energy, such as solar cells, solar panels, and wind turbines, is not likely to increase significantly - in the case of solar cells, beyond the few that are currently being manufactured in Italy, France and Slovenia.²⁸ European wind turbine manufacturers such as Siemens Gamesa, Vestas and Nordex are currently running at a loss. According to the Financial Times, there is no expectation of a return to profitability in the near future.²⁹ However, it does not currently appear that Europe and European countries have the appetite for the kind of industrial policy that would be required to make the reshoring of manufacturing capacity for some and the retention of it for others possible.30

This is where development cooperation can support the EU in achieving its strategic autonomy ambitions: if the EU is not able to implement such an industrial policy, it should at least strive to ensure that the supply chain of renewable energy hardware becomes less concentrated than is currently the case. A less concentrated supply chain increases the chances of strategic autonomy in this crucial sector. Much like in the case of critical raw materials, many developing countries, including most in Africa, have renewable energy manufacturing ambitions. Given that some of them face energy security issues that the EU, through its development cooperation policy, seeks to support, advancing the development of renewable energy industries in these countries should be a priority within the EU's policy framework.

To do this, the EU must be willing to support the industrial policies of developing countries as part of the EU's development cooperation policy. This would require a level of ambition from the EU side that has not been witnessed up until now, as well as a strategic dialogue with EU companies that have signalled interest and willingness to explore the assemblage and manufacturing of solar panels in African countries. Doing so would not only help diversify the production of renewable energy hardware, something essential for reducing the concentration of supply chains, but would also ensure that the EU, with its geographical proximity to Africa, could become an export destination for some of the renewable energy hardware produced in African countries.31 Africa's renewable energy manufacturing sector is well positioned to experience significant growth over the next few years given its push for industrialisation and localised manufacturing as well as its richness in resources critical for renewable energy products.32

One key element needed for this to happen in African countries is a significant increase in energy production, since manufacturing requires high energy. In the long run, Europe's bet on hydrogen could help with this. But in the short to medium term, the EU must be willing to acknowledge the fact that fossil fuel will be required to increase energy production - and it must be willing to support this where possible through development cooperation. This should not be a big request given that hardly any deal the EU and European countries have struck since the drive for the diversification of energy sources is exclusively focused on renewable energy. Most are in fact focused on natural gas.33 Supporting the development of natural gas capacity - for instance in Nigeria, which has the ninth largest natural gas reserve in the world, and the largest in Africa - when it is of such strategic importance both for the host countries and the EU, should therefore definitely be within the EU's energy policy toolbox.

EU's digital policy and sovereignty

The EU needs to work hard in securing its digital future. In the key software technological areas of the future – artificial intelligence and cloud computing – it lags behind the US and China. It remains somewhat competitive in certain hardware sectors such as 5G and semiconductors. But even in these sectors, there is strong competition – in the semiconductor sector from Taiwan and the US, which has recently introduced measures that limit Chinese access to semiconductor technologies; and in 5G from Chinese companies that are busy building the 5G infrastructure in large parts of the non-Western world, Africa included.

The geopolitical tussle between the US and China is likely to express itself most strongly in the technology space. Some commentators³⁴ are already thinking of a not-so-distant future in which the US could actively pressure its allies to choose sides when it comes to the export controls it imposes on China – something that it currently says it will not do. A first act of this

was seen in the successful diplomatic efforts by the Trump administration to convince Europe (except Germany) and leading allies in Asia not to use Huawei for 5G.³⁵ Germany, the EU's economic powerhouse, whose 5G radio access network is provided to 95% by Huawei,³⁶ might be on the receiving end of such active pressure by the US if the US was to begin pressuring its allies to support it as it tries to limit China's technological advancement and global market access.

The EU is no doubt aware of this and other possible problems for its digital future and has been working on a few initiatives that it hopes will allow it to take its digital future in its own hands. On semiconductors, the Commission has introduced a European Chips Act, which it hopes will support the EU in achieving some level of strategic autonomy in the semiconductor space. The Chips Act has been described as promising³⁷ as it has garnered strong political support, in part due to supply chain pressures caused by the Covid-19 pandemic. Delivering on this promise of course depends on continued political support as well as the ability to raise the amount of financing the Act anticipates. The EU plans to allocate USD 43 billion in public funds, which it hopes will catalyse private funding of the same amount. Furthermore, the EU is not the only country aiming to scale up its semiconductor sector. South Korea, for example, is planning an investment of USD 450 billion into its chips industry.³⁸

Even if the EU's efforts with regard to chips bear fruit, this is only one area of technology. In other areas, the Commission has proposed the Data Governance Act and the Data Act which it hopes will encourage the use of data as a driver for innovation and growth.³⁹ There is also the Digital Services Act and the Digital Markets Act which are designed to respond to regulatory challenges posed by internet platform companies, none

of which are European. The Standardisation Strategy aims to strengthen the ability of the EU to remain a global standard-setter, and the Artificial Intelligence Act has proposed a legal framework on AI.⁴⁰

A quick look at these initiatives will show that the EU is counting on what has come to be described as its normative power to support it in the global two-way race for tech supremacy. In this regard, it counts on being the player that sets the global norms for how different aspects of technology are used, using access to its large single market as an incentive for companies to follow the rules that it sets up. If it is able to pull this off in a tech world that is becoming more polarised, it would indeed be a feat because no country or bloc has ever been able to regulate its way into global supremacy in any space.

Perhaps aware of these facts, the EU has made digital partnership an important part of its development cooperation with third party countries. In doing this, the EU seeks to be a sort of role model for the digital economy, essentially by "supporting developing economies in going digital and developing digital standards with the intention of promoting them internationally."41 The EU also appears to be seeking to export its regulations to the developing world. The apparent implication of this would be to make it easier, even if not in the short term, for European companies to be the investors of choice in developing countries since those jurisdictions already implement European companies' home rules, so to speak. A look at Article 15 of the Agreement between the EU and the African, Caribbean and Pacific Group of States (ACP), which covers how personal data is processed, reveals that it already includes text drawn from the GDPR. This would commit signatories to implement such provisions in a way that is legally binding.

Many ACP countries are nevertheless very likely going to find it difficult to implement these provisions. In fact, EU member states themselves find it hard to implement the GDPR effectively,⁴² with national regulators finding it difficult to implement and enforce it. For many developing countries where regulatory capacity might be weak, implementing elements of the GDPR that come bundled with comprehensive and legally binding agreements like the ACP-EU Treaty, may be rather difficult. Indeed, it would require them to introduce new national legislation that ensures compliance with the EU-ACP agreement. Implementing these regulations is also likely to be very hard.

Strategically speaking, it makes sense for the EU to introduce these provisions. But in the long run, if they end up leading to legal disputes that are costly to developing countries, the provisions will be counterproductive to Europe's desires to become a geopolitical actor. It would therefore be important to ensure that one-size-fits-all regulations and conditions are not introduced into legally binding agreements. This would also have to include learning from the EU's own experience in implementing the GDPR.

Instead, it would be helpful to start with what developing countries themselves say they want - and then to determine where the EU can connect to this. Taking African countries as an example, digital infrastructure is one thing that they have all clearly stated as of core importance to their digital agenda.43 It is doubtful that the EU will be able to provide 4G and 5G solutions to African countries as Huawei can, or that EU companies will build the kinds of underwater cables that Meta and Google are currently building to connect with African countries. The EU could, however, look into the niches that it could carve for itself, around areas that are of interest to African countries, in ways that can allow the EU to seize a measure of control over

its digital future. Investing in African data centres could be one way for Europe to connect with the needs expressed by African governments.⁴⁴

While it might therefore be hard at this point to imagine a world in which Europe is able to strike out on its own in a world of US-China rivalry, close cooperation with its neighbouring continent, which also happens to be the youngest continent in the world, could help the EU carve out a space in the global digital market, as outlined above. Development cooperation can support this by investment in areas that partners have identified as areas of importance to them. Beyond this, EU initiatives that move in the direction of industrial policy could also look at how to involve African countries. One can imagine a world in which the EU Chips Act includes a development cooperation component that invests in nascent industries in African countries. Future initiatives of this type in other specific areas of the digital sector could also include development components that understand that the EU might need to collaborate with African countries.

Conclusion

There appears to be a shyness among European policymakers in accepting the fact that the EU and its member states could implement an interest-based development cooperation policy that also connects with foreign policy objectives. One can understand this shyness – if interest-based is taken to mean the 'instrumentalisation' of development cooperation, which has been criticised by several commentators, including in a briefing published by the European Parliament. But the truth is that development cooperation has never really been divorced from national – or in the case of the European Union, regional – interests.

This policy brief has sought to undertake a very brief and necessarily incomplete review of key aspects of the EU's strategic autonomy goals and how they can be supported by development cooperation. The overall argument is a simple one: development cooperation has always in a sense been part of foreign policy. The hope here is that embracing this fact might help shift the debate towards how to ensure that development cooperation works better in achieving foreign policy objectives — in this case the EU's ambitions for strategic autonomy, specifically by identifying overlapping and intersecting strategic objectives with Africa, its neighbour continent.

The bigger hope is that looking at how development cooperation can support strategic autonomy might itself lend a new lease of life to development cooperation. This is akin to what is described as "principled national interest"46 one that avoids the instrumentalisation of development cooperation for short-term domestic political gains, as is currently the case with the EU's development cooperation policy around migration. Instead, a policy framework is needed that manages to contribute to global (especially to southern) development while clearly understanding, if not articulating, what it offers to the donors as well. If EU policy circles can acknowledge these linkages, development policy can better serve the interests of both Africa and Europe.

Endnotes and References

- 1 Small, A. (2020) 'The Meaning of Systemic Rivalry: Europe and China Beyond the Pandemic', Policy brief, European Council on Foreign Relations, May (https://ecfr.eu/publication/the_meaning_of_systemic_rivalry_europe_and_china_beyond_the_pandemic/).
- 2 Bundesverband der Deutschen Industrie e.V. (2019) 'Partner and Systemic Competitor How Do We Deal with China's State-Controlled Economy', Policy paper, October (https://english.bdi.eu/publication/news/china-partner-and-systemic-competitor/.
- 3 European Union External Action (2022) 'EU Ambassadors Annual Conference 2022: Opening speech by High Representative Josep Borrell', October (www.eeas.europa.eu/eeas/eu-ambassadors-annual-conference-2022-opening-speech-high-representative-josep-borrell_en)
- 4 Haastrup, T. (2022) 'Negotiating Africa-EU Futures Amidst Geopolitical Turmoil', Africa Policy Research Institute, August (https://afripoli.org/negotiating-africa-eu-futures-amidst-geopolitical-turmoil).
- 5 European Union External Action (2022) 'Europe in the Interregnum: Our Geopolitical Awakening After Ukraine', March (www.eeas.europa.eu/eeas/europe-interregnum-our-geopolitical-awakening-after-ukraine_en).
- 6 Young, R. (2022) 'The Awakening of Geopolitical Europe?', Carnegie Europe, July (https://carnegieeurope.eu/2022/07/28/awakening-of-geopolitical-europe-pub-87580).
- 7 de Hoop Scheffer, A. and Weber, G. (2022) 'Russia's War on Ukraine: the EU's Geopolitical Awakening', GMF, March (www.gmfus.org/news/russias-war-ukraine-eus-geopolitical-awakening).
- 8 European Union External Action (2020) 'Building Global Europe' (https://www.eeas.europa.eu/eeas/building-global-europe_en)
- 9 Eurostat (2020) 'Ageing Europe: Statistics on Population Developments' (https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=Ageing_Europe_-_statistics_on_population_developments).
- 10 The Economist (2022) 'The Pecking Order of the World's Population is Soon to Change', July (www.economist.com/graphic-detail/2022/07/14/the-pecking-order-of-the-worlds-population-is-soon-to-change).
- 11 European Labour Authority (2021) '2021 Labour Shortages and Surpluses Report' (www.ela.europa.eu/en/media/725).
- 12 Peichl, A., Sauer, S. and Wohlrabe, K. (2022) 'Fachkräftemangel in Deutschland und Europa Historie, Status Quo und was getan werden muss', ifo Institut (www.ifo.de/en/publications/2022/article-journal/fachkraeftemangel-deutschland-und-europa-historie-status-quo).
- 13 ifo Institut (2022) 'Shortage of Skilled Workers in Germany Reaches an All-Time High' (www.ifo.de/en/press-release/2022-08-02/shortage-skilled-workers-germany-reaches-all-time-high).
- 14 Kenny, C. and Yang, G. (2021) 'Can Africa Help Europe Avoid Its Looming Aging Crisis?', Center for Global Development, (www.cgdev.org/sites/default/files/can-africa-help-europe-avoid-looming-aging-crisis.pdf).
- Anderson, J. (2022) 'Europe Needs High-Tech Talent: Investing in People to Counter Oligopolistic Dynamics and Dependencies in Technology Markets', Foundation for European Progressive Studies, July (https://feps-europe.eu/publication/europe-needs-high-tech/).
- 16 Carina-Grün, G. (2022) 'How the EU Spent Billions to Halt Migration from Africa', *Deutsche Welle*, 12 April (www. dw.com/en/how-the-eu-spent-billions-to-halt-migration-from-africa/a-61362906).
- 17 Schacht, K. (2022) 'EU: Development Aid as Migration Control', *Deutsche Welle*, 13 April (www.dw.com/en/eu-uses-development-aid-to-strongarm-africa-on-migration/a-61375189).
- 18 Deutsches Institut für Entwicklungspolitik (2019) 'Supporting or Thwarting? The Influence of European Union Migration Policies on African Free Movement Regimes in West and North-Eastern Africa', Briefing paper (www.idos-research.de/uploads/media/BP_18.2019_korrigiert.pdf).
- 19 Edie Newsroom (2019) 'Europe's 'Man on the Moon Moment': Green Deal to Create World's First Climate-Neutral Continent', December (www.edie.net/europes-man-on-the-moon-moment-green-deal-to-create-worlds-first-climate-neutral-continent/).
- Leonard, M., Pisani-Ferry, J., Shapiro, J., Tagliapietra, S. and Wolff, G. (2021) 'The Geopolitics of the European Green Deal', Policy brief, European Council on Foreign Relations, February (https://ecfr.eu/publication/the-geopolitics-of-the-european-green-deal/).

- 21 Usman, Z., Abimbola, O. and Ituen, I. (2021) 'What Does the European Green Deal Mean for Africa?', Paper, Carnegie Endowment for Peace, October (https://carnegieendowment.org/2021/10/18/what-does-european-green-deal-mean-for-africa-pub-85570).
- 22 Africa Policy Research Institute (2022) 'Climate Finance in Africa Flagship Report', November (https://afripoli.org/projects/climate-finance/climate-finance-in-africa-flagship-report).
- 23 United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (2021) 'A European Union Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism: Implications for Developing Countries' (https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/osginf2021d2_en.pdf).
- 24 EU Science Hub, 'Raw Material Information System (RMIS)' (https://rmis.jrc.ec.europa.eu/?page=-crm-list-2020-e294f6).
- 25 European Commission (2022) 'COP27: European Union Concludes a Strategic Partnership with Namibia on Sustainable Raw Materials and Renewable Hydrogen', November (https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip_22_6683).
- 26 EUR-Lex (2022) 'Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the European Council, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions RE Power EU Plan' (https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=COM%3A2022%3A230%3AFIN&qid=1653033742483).
- 27 European Union External Action (2021) 'Energy Diplomacy' (www.eeas.europa.eu/eeas/energy-diplomacy_en).
- 28 Campbell, M. (2022) 'More Solar Panels Need to be Made in Europe to Cut Dependency on Russian Gas, says EU', euronews.green (www.euronews.com/green/2022/03/31/more-solar-panels-need-to-be-made-in-europe-to-cut-dependency-on-russian-gas-says-eu).
- 29 Financial Times, 'European Wind Turbine Manufacturers Face Tough 2023' (www.ft.com/content/24367f1e-db33-4eda-8f72-d668be4bb000).
- 30 There is a case to be made for such an industrial policy, but that is not the focus of this policy paper.
- 31 It is important that the EU understands that this is not just development cooperation, but that this is something that Europe needs if it is to achieve strategic autonomy in its energy policy.
- 32 Sustainable Energy For All (2022) 'Africa Renewable Energy Manufacturing: Opportunities and Advancement' (www. seforall.org/system/files/2023-01/%5BFINAL%5D%2020220115_ZOD_SEForAll_AfricanManufacturingReport.pdf).
- 33 Dennison, S., Piaskowska, G. and Zerka, P. (2022) 'EU Energy Deal Trackers', European Council on Foreign Relations (https://ecfr.eu/special/energy-deals-tracker/).
- 34 Kuo, K. (2022) 'America in Asia: On the Outside Looking In, By Evan Feigenbaum', The China Project (https://thechinaproject.com/2022/11/17/america-in-asia-on-the-outside-looking-in-by-evan-feigenbaum/).
- 35 Duesterberg, T. (2021) 'U.S. Efforts To Counter Huawei 5G Dominance Making Progress: Open RAN Playing Growing Role', Forbes, March (www.forbes.com/sites/thomasduesterberg/2021/03/17/us-efforts-to-counter-huawei-5g-dominance-making-progress-open-ran-playing-growing-role/?sh=614bf2a0655e).
- 36 Marsh, S. (2022) 'Germany Ups Reliance on Huawei for 5G Despite Security Fears Survey', Reuters, December (www.reuters.com/technology/germany-ups-reliance-huawei-5g-despite-security-fears-survey-2022-12-16/).
- 37 Timmers, P. (2022) 'How Europe Aims to Achieve Strategic Autonomy for Semiconductors', Brookings, 9 August (www.brookings.edu/techstream/how-europe-aims-to-achieve-strategic-autonomy-for-semiconductors/).
- 38 Kim, Sohee, and Kim, Sam (2021) 'Korea Unveils 450 Billion Push to Seize Global Chipmaking Crown', Bloomberg, May (www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2021-05-13/korea-unveils-450-billion-push-to-seize-global-chipmaking-crown).
- 39 European Union External Action (2022) 'Digital Diplomacy' (www.eeas.europa.eu/eeas/digital-diplomacy_en#54411).
- 40 ibid.
- 41 Abimbola, O., Aggad, F. and Ndzendze, B. (2021) 'What Is Africa's Digital Agenda?', Africa Policy Research Institute, September (https://afripoli.org/what-is-africas-digital-agenda#item-5).
- 42 Burgess, M. (2022) 'How GDPR Is Failing', Wired, May (www.wired.co.uk/article/gdpr-2022).
- 43 Abimbola, O., Aggad, F. and Ndzendze, B. (2021) 'What Is Africa's Digital Agenda?', Africa Policy Research Institute, September (https://afripoli.org/what-is-africas-digital-agenda#item-5).

- 44 Teevan, C. (2021) 'Building Strategic European Digital Cooperation with Africa', Briefing note, European Centre for Development Policy Management (ECDPM) (https://ecdpm.org/application/files/9516/5546/8568/Building-Strategic-European-Digital-Cooperation-With-Africa-ECDPM-Briefing-Note-134-2021.pdf).
- Latek, M. (2017) 'Growing Impact of EU Migration Policy on Development Cooperation', European Parliamentary Research Service, November (www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2017/614577/EPRS_BRI(2017)614577_EN.pdf).
- 46 Gulrajani, N. and Calleja, R. (2020) 'Interest-Based Development Cooperation: Moving Providers from Parochial Convergence to Principled Collaboration', *The Palgrave Handbook of Development Cooperation for Achieving the 2030 Agenda*, pp. 271–288, (https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-030-57938-8_12#Sec4).

About the author



DR OLUMIDE ABIMBOLA

Dr Olumide Abimbola is a political economist and the founder and director of APRI – the Africa Policy Research Institute. His areas of focus include EU-Africa relations, climate change, trade policy, regional integration, and natural resources management. He has either conducted research or worked in Tunisia, Côte d'Ivoire, Benin, Togo, and Nigeria. Before APRI, Abimbola worked at the CONNEX Support Unit, a GIZ-hosted G7 initiative funded by the German government and the European Commission. Prior to that, he worked on trade and regional integration at the African Development Bank. He currently sits on the International Board of the Institute for Money, Technology and Financial Inclusion (IMTFI) at the University of California, Irvine, and is a member of the Policy Working Group at the Institute of Humanities in Africa (HUMA) of the University of Cape Town, South Africa.



This policy brief is published as part of 'European Strategic Autonomy: Pathways to Progressive Action', a project co-organised by the Foundation for European Progressive Studies, the Brussels office of the Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung and the Fondation Jean-Jaurès.

About FEPS

The Foundation for European Progressive Studies (FEPS) is the think tank of the progressive political family at EU level. Its mission is to develop innovative research, policy advice, training and debates to inspire and inform progressive politics and policies across Europe.

FEPS works in close partnership with its 68 members and other partners -including renowned universities, scholars, policymakers and activists-, forging connections among stakeholders from the world of politics, academia and civil society at local, regional, national, European and global levels.

European Political Foundation - N° 4 BE 896.230.213 | Avenue des Arts 46 1000 Brussels (Belgium)

www.feps-europe.eu | Twitter/Instagram: @FEPS_Europe | Facebook: @FEPSEurope

About Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung

The EU Office of the Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung (FES), with its headquarters in Brussels and activities in Brussels and Strasbourg, was opened in 1973. The EU Office participates in the European integration process, backs and accompanies the interests of the Federal Republic of Germany in Europe and contributes to shaping the external relations of the European Union.

www.brussels.fes.de | Twitter: @FES_Brussels | Instagram: FES_Europe | Facebook: @FESonline

About Fondation Jean-Jaurès

Fondation Jean-Jaurès is the leading French political foundation, which not only works as a think tank but also as a grassroots actor and a historical memory centre at the service of all those who defend progress and democracy in the world.

www.jean-jaures.org | Twitter/Instagram: @j_jaures | Facebook: @fondationjeanjaures

ON SIMILAR TOPICS











